
 

 

LINCOLN COUNTY LOST: 

Lincoln County before the Dam  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sharman Southall, Senior Historian 

Georgia Department of Transportation 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Occasional Papers in Cultural Resource Management #20 

2010 



Georgia Department of Transportation 
Occasional Papers in Cultural Resource Management 

 
The Georgia Department of Transportation’s (DOT) Occasional Papers in Cultural Resource Management series consists of archaeological 
and historical research sponsored by the Georgia DOT. These reports have been produced by Georgia DOT in-house cultural resource staff 
and by consultants under contract with the Georgia DOT. Reports within the series present information ranging from cultural resource 
contextual themes to specific data associated with historic properties considered eligible for the National Register of Historic Places that 
would be affected by transportation projects.  
Each report addresses research questions and the conclusions and interpretations contained therein reflect the theoretical orientation, 
background, and assorted biases of the authors. Each manuscript has been prepared as a result of a project with the Georgia DOT, and the 
reports are distributed by the Office of Environmental Services. 
 

Georgia Department of Transportation 
Occasional Papers in Cultural Resource Management 

 
No. 1 - Archaeological Investigations at 9CK(DOT)7, Cherokee County, Georgia; by William R. Bowen (1982).  
 
No. 2 - Cagle Site Report: Archaic and Early Woodland Period Manifestations in the North Georgia Piedmont; by Morgan R. Crook, Jr. 
(1984).  
 
No. 3 - Lowe Site Report: A Contribution to Archaeology of the Georgia Coastal Plain; by Morgan R. Crook, Jr. (1987).  
 
No. 4 - Rush: An Early Woodland Period Site in Northwest Georgia; by W. Dean Wood and R. Jerald Ledbetter (1990).  
 
No. 5 - A Few Visits in Prehistory: Data Recovery at 9RH18, Randolph County, Georgia; by Christopher T. Espenshade (1993).  
 
No. 6 - The Pig Pen Site: Archeological Investigations at 9RI158, Richmond County, Georgia; by R. Jerald Ledbetter (1988).  
 
No. 7 - Data Recovery at Lovers Lane, Phinizy Swamp and the Old Dike Sites, Bobby Jones Expressway Extension Corridor, Augusta, 
Georgia; by Daniel T. Elliott, R. Jerald Ledbetter, and Elizabeth A. Gordon (1994).  
 
No. 8 - The Victory Drive Site, 9ME50, Muscogee County, Georgia; by R. Jerald Ledbetter (1997).  
 
No. 9 - The Bull Creek Site, 9ME1, Muscogee County, Georgia; by R. Jerald Ledbetter (1997).  
 
No. 10 - An Archeological Survey of the Shoulderbone Tract, Hancock County, Georgia; by Thomas J. Pluckhahn (1997).  
 
No. 11 - Prehistory of the Stuckey Tract, Bleckley County, Georgia; by Scot Keith (2006).  
 
No. 12 - Archeological and Historical Investigations at Battery Hamilton (9CH953), Chatham County, Georgia; by Chad O. Braley (2003).  
 
No. 13 - The Early Vegetable Tanning Industry in Georgia: Archaeological Testing at the Clinton Tannery (09JO282), Jones County, Georgia; 
by Daphne L. Owens and Daniel E. Battle (2008).  
 
No. 14 - The Late Archaic to Early Woodland Transition in Northwest Georgia: Evidence for Terminal Archaic (ca. 1100 – 600 B.C.) Period 
Occupation in the Region; by Jerald Ledbetter, Lisa D. O’Steen, and Scott Jones (2009).  
 
No. 15 - A Look Into the Outlands: The Cultural Landscape of the Dougherty Plain of Georgia; by R. Jeannine Windham, Johannes Loubser, 
and Mark Swanson (2009).  
 
No. 16 - An Overview and Analysis of the Middle Archaic in Georgia; by Sudha Shah and Thomas Whitley (2009).  
 
No. 17 - Bilbo (9CH4) and Delta (38JA23): Late Archaic and Early Woodland Shell Mounds at the Mouth of the Savannah River; by Morgan 
R. Crook, Jr. (2009) 
 
No. 18 - Historic Farms in Paulding County; An Agricultural Context Study; by Martha L. Teall of Edwards-Pitman Environmental, 
Inc., With Contributions By Grant Hudson, Elizabeth Crawford, Leslie Brown, Lauren Cotton-Smith, and Regina Schuster (2009). 
 
No. 19 - Long Acres Subdivision Historic District Architectural Context Study, Fulton County, Georgia; by Jeffrey T. Carr (2010). 
 
No. 20 - Lincoln Lost: the County before the Dam; by Sharman Southall (2010). 

 
 

 

 



 

Preface 
 

In 2003, the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) proposed the replacement 

of GDOT Bridge 181-0003-0, which carries State Route 43 over the J. Strom Thurmond 

Lake on the Savannah River from Lincoln County, Georgia to South Carolina.   As a 

result of Section 106 compliance efforts for that project, GDOT Bridge 181-0003-0 

was determined eligible for the National Register of Historic Places for its significance 

in the area of engineering. When it was further determined that the bridge was 

structurally deficient and could not be rehabilitated, mitigation measures were 

developed that included photographic documentation of the bridge as well as the 

preparation of an architectural context study that would examine the built environment 

of Lincoln County prior to the construction of the J. Strom Thurmond Dam and Lake at 

Clarks Hill in 1952.  Because the reservoir was created before environmental laws 

protecting historic resources were enacted, no agency was responsible for conducting 

a historic structures survey of the area, and no known documentation of individual 

resources remained.  The purpose of this study was to explore other records that 

might answer the question, “what historic resources were lost?” 

 

This report describes efforts to locate historic photographs and/or written descriptions of 

the structures destroyed during the construction of the dam and reservoir.  While 

searching for this information, Mr. Tom Lewis, Natural Resources Manager for the Clarks 

Hill Project, encouraged the examination of the acquisition files for the reservoir project 

belonging to the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers. The files were found to contain a nearly 

complete profile of architecture in eastern Lincoln County in the early twentieth century.  

Without the construction of the dam and reservoir, the structures would have never been 

documented, though they were documented incidentally.  Images of the historic 

photographs and written information found in these records are included in this report.   

 

GDOT is pleased to publish Lincoln Lost: the County before the Dam as the twentieth in 

its Occasional Papers in Cultural Resource Management series.   

 

Sharman Southall 

Senior Historian  

Georgia Department of Transportation 
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Introduction 
 

In 2003, planning began to replace GDOT Bridge 181-0003-0 which carries 
State Route 43 over the J. Strom Thurmond Lake (formerly Clarks Hill Lake) on 
the Savannah River from Lincoln County, Georgia to South Carolina1.  Originally 

constructed in 1938 over the 
Savannah River, the bridge was 
raised by 17-feet fourteen years 
later.  The concrete piers were 
raised, and two spans were added in 
1952 to accommodate the reservoir 
project which created the 39-mile 
long Clark’s Hill Lake.    
 
When travelling the two lane bridge 

in 2008, the structure is not as physically striking as a stone arch bridge or a 
metal through truss bridge found in other parts of the state.   Because it is an 
early example of a long-span deck girder bridge with continuous units, the 
bridge is considered eligible for the National Register of Historic Places for its 
significance in the area of engineering.  But to the long time residents of the 
area, the bridge also serves as a reminder of what once was.  When the water is 
low, the old road can be seen as it disappears into the lake near the “new” 
bridge.   This road once led to the bridge that crossed the Savannah River before 
the dam and is a reminder that the land beneath the lake once contained roads, 
cemeteries, fences, houses, and people.   
 
In addition to nearly 400 acres of shoreline along J. Strom Thurmond Lake, Lincoln 
County is also distinguished by having over 160 structures listed in the National 
Register of Historic Places.  This contrast of a place dramatically shaped by a 
modern dam with the area’s retention of its rural and historic character makes 
Lincoln County unique in the state.  Because the transportation project will destroy 
the old bridge and consequently, its connection to the Savannah River before the 
construction of the dam and lake and because of  the rich architectural heritage of 
the area, this document focuses on the changes to Lincoln County between 1938 
and 1952 and on the resulting losses to the built environment during this period. 
                                                
1 In 1954, Clark Hill Dam was completed.  It was renamed Clarks Hill Dam at the request of Senator Strom 
Thurmond.  The “s” had initially been omitted due to a clerical error.  In 1988, Clarks Hill Dam was 
congressionally renamed J. Strom Thurmond Dam and Lake at Clarks Hill.   
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(Note:  Medium format photography, along with a brief history of the bridge is 
being retained at the State Historic Preservation Office in Atlanta and at the Lincoln 
County Public Library.) 
 
In discussions with residents familiar with the land before the lake and in searching 
for photographs that would serve to document those memories, it became clear 
that very few photographs exist.  Many of the dwellings on the parcels that were 
acquired for the dam project did not have electricity or indoor plumbing.  
Considering the economic reality of the area in the late 1940s, it is not surprising 
that photographs of most of the farms were not taken by the families. Additionally, 
photographs were not included in the Lincolnton Journal stories about the dam 
construction or land acquisition from 1943 to 1953, while most of the photographs 
and accompanying reservoir related articles in the Augusta Chronicle reflected 
interest in the construction at the dam site rather than the clearing of surrounding 
areas.   
 
When conceived, it was hoped that the results of this study might document some 
of the structures that were lost when the dam was constructed and the lake was 
formed.  Since this area of the state developed first, were some of these lost 
structures representative of the pioneer period? People interviewed who remember 
the county before the dam believe that this is possible. Because the dam was 
constructed before environmental laws protecting historic resources were enacted, 
no agency was responsible for conducting a historic structures survey of the area.  
The U. S. Army Corps of Engineers  (USACE) “A History of the Savannah District, U. 
S. Corps of Engineers” by Henry E. Barber and Allen R. Gann, states that 
“archaeological explorations and the relocation of people, cemeteries, and roads 
were other problems that had to be solved before water could be impounded in the 
basin behind the completed dam.” However, while conducting research for this 
mitigation, no documentation of the loss of historic structures was found. What was 
found instead were the property acquisition files that included descriptions of the 
land acquired by the USACE.  Although these documents were not intended to be 
used as architectural documentation, through data sheets and photography the 60 
year old files provide a nearly complete profile of the architecture of the eastern 
portion of Lincoln County in the early twentieth century.  This documentation 
provides a window into a world rarely seen-that of indigent Georgia farmers.  
Without the construction of the dam, this way of life would have never been 
documented, though it was documented incidentally. 
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To set the stage for this rare glimpse into rural Georgia pre-1945, a brief history of 
Lincoln County follows which introduces the analysis of the primary documentation 
collected from the USACE.   This analysis includes interviews with several long time 
residents willing to share their remembrances of historic Lincoln County and the 
area of the county that is now beneath the lake. 
 

Early Lincoln County 

In 1773, Creek and Cherokee Indians living in the area now known as Lincoln 
County ceded their territory to the British Crown.  In that year, land grants were 
made.  After the Revolutionary War, more land grants were made by the Georgia 
Assembly, and in 1796, Lincoln County was formed from Wilkes County. Lincoln 
County was named for Revolutionary war hero, General Benjamin Lincoln.  The 
land was settled by pioneers who came from Virginia and the Carolinas with gun 
and axe to open up the Cherokee land.  In 1798, the town of Lincolnton was 
selected as the central location for the county courthouse and jail and soon 
became the county seat. The town was incorporated in 1817 and now extends 
one mile in all directions from the Confederate Monument which marks the site 
of the original courthouse. Lincolnton continues to be the only municipality in 
Lincoln County.  

From 1800 through the Civil War and on into the turn of the twentieth century, 
Lincoln County remained a small farming region.  Small communities and small 
tracts of land were common in the county.  Only two stores operated in 
Lincolnton during the first half of the nineteenth century. Tobacco, cotton, and 
other crops were floated down the Savannah River to Augusta or were carted 
down the Petersburg-Augusta Road which trailed down the eastern side of the 
county.  
 
By the 1820s, Augusta was steam boating goods to Savannah and Charleston.  
Farmers up the Savannah River accessed Augusta by pole boats since a 
steamboat could not travel past Augusta because of the many shoals on the 
river.  Efforts to improve the Savannah River began as early as the late 
eighteenth century because better trade with the upcountry would maintain the 
economic health of seacoast markets. As settlement moved farther inland, the 
demand for better means of land travel grew more pressing.  Trails would 
become roads, and wagons would carry crops to market returning laden with 
supplies. When wagons, stagecoaches, and steamboats could not meet 
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increasing transportation demand, railroads were constructed.  As this 
construction began in other areas of the state, Lincoln County was overlooked.  
Although the area had settled earlier, the land was not as fertile as the coastal 
plain of Southwestern Georgia.2 With the absence of the rail, Lincoln County 
growth lagged, and the area grew more isolated.   
 
Well into the twentieth century, landowners along the Savannah River ran ferries 
that provided links between Georgia and South Carolina.   As automobiles 
flourished, the ferries continued to transport people and their vehicles across 
the Savannah.  In the May 8, 1952 issue of the Lincoln Journal, an article 
reminisced about Fortson’s Ferry.  Fortson’s Ferry was once located where GDOT 
Bridge 181-0003-0 is presently located.  The newspaper article stated that the 
ferry was established at that site in 1908 and was owned by Benjamin Fortson 
Sr. and M.L.B. Sturkey.  In 1931, Sturkey sold his interest to Porter Dorn, and the 
enterprise continued.3  A plaque on the southwest railing post of the bridge 
memorializes Benjamin Fortson, who is said to have lost his life at the location 
in 1937 in an effort to save an African-American ferryman from drowning. 4 
According to Benjamin Fortson’s grandson, Benjamin Fortson was thought to be 
the last ferryman on the Savannah River, so this era ended with his death and 
the completion of GDOT Bridge 181-0003-0 in 1938 5. 
 
The bridge was also one of the earliest and longest of the continuous deck 
girder bridges designed by State Bridge Engineer, Clarence N. Crocker.  The 
girders were fabricated by the Birmingham works of the Virginia Bridge 
Company.6  In spite of its premiere design, the road leading to the bridge was 
unpaved at the time of its construction.7   
 
Population in Lincoln County peaked in 1920 with a total of 9739 residents and 
1668 farms. 8 Most of the increase was due to the construction of the 
Washington and Lincoln Railroad.  The Georgia Railroad had built a branch line 
to Washington in 1854, and there was immediate talk of extending the line 25 
miles north to Lincolnton.  The long awaited connection would not be completed 
                                                
2 Georgia Humanities Council, p. 301. 
3  Lincolnton Journal, May 8, 1952, p.1. 
4  Sharing recognition on the plaque is Joseph Jennings Dorn, a South Carolina State Senator who lived in 
McCormick. 
5 Benjamin Fortson, personal communication, 2008. 
6 Georgia Department of Transportation, Georgia Historic Bridge Survey. 
7 State Highway Board of Georgia, p. 27. 
8 Bureau of the Census, Electronic Document. 
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until 1918.  Population numbers in the county spiked with this attempt to 
establish new trade and transportation options.  Soon cotton was devastated by 
the boll weevil and difficult to replenish timber was shipped away on the tiny 
new railroad. By the early 1930s, the large saw mills were gone, and the railroad 
was abandoned.  Continued isolation would push the steady decline of 
population and farming over the next 50 years.    The farm to market road 
connecting Lincolnton to Elberton to the north and Thomson to the south would 
not be paved until 1944.9 
 
Although Lincoln County was settled early, its economy lagged other areas of 
the state as it became more and more isolated.  These forces, isolation and lack 
of economic development, would drive the continued agricultural character of 
the area.  Absent newer construction, the county would be rich in small 
vernacular farm houses with a variety of agricultural buildings supporting 
sustenance farming in the late 1940s.  One would expect and the 
documentation supports the conclusion that the built environment might 
include structures or building practices dating from the pioneer period. 
 

Damming the River 
 
The Clarks Hill project was authorized in 1944, and the program was heavily 
promoted by Augusta community leaders because it was designed to help to 
solve the flooding problem in their city.  In addition to flood control, the 
location had been identified by USACE in 1933 as a likely site for a future power 
plant dam.  Perhaps because of Lincoln County’s weak economy and a desperate 
need for area employment, the Lincolnton Journal also touted the project’s 
hydroelectric, navigation and flood control benefits. Sharing the front page with 
news that Lincoln was “over the top” in war bond sales, the dam was described 
as a stimulant to the “industrial expansion of Lincoln County” while no mention 
was made of the potential sacrifices of Lincoln County property owners.10   
 
In addition to the flood control and power generation aspects of the project, the 
Flood Control Act of 1944 opened up federal lands on reservoir projects 
operated by agencies such as USACOE and the Bureau of Reclamation for public 
recreational use.  The 1944 legislation also empowered the USACOE “to 
construct, maintain, and operate a public park and recreational facilities in 
                                                
9 Lincolnton Journal, January 13, 1944, p.1. 
10 Lincolnton Journal, December 14, 1944, p.1. 
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reservoir areas.” Not all states were able to take advantage of these new 
programs but Georgia exploited the opportunities to the fullest and this practice 
would also impact Lincoln County.11 
 
As the War drew to a close, a statement was made in the newspaper that “actual 
work on the dam will not begin until the last gun is fired”.12  This claim is not 
surprising, considering the labor shortages caused by the war, but the comment 
is also illustrative of the total commitment to the war effort.  In a September 20, 
1945 article, it was mentioned that “a very large portion of land (that) would be 
covered by water under this proposed project is in Lincoln County”.13  If this 
news alarmed the 7,042 residents of Lincoln County, the newspaper did not 
capture their concerns.    Also in 1952, it was announced that a land office was 
to be set up in the new Hotel Lincoln.  The purpose of this office was to manage 
land acquisition for the project.  It was estimated that the process of acquisition 
would take 3 years to complete.14  At the conclusion of the project, a March 20, 
1952 article would state that of the 78,500 acres that were under water, 40,000 
acres were in Lincoln County.15 
 
In 1945, Lincoln County had 101,082 acres of farmland and 860 farms.  Farms 
were small and crops included corn, oats, and wheat supplemented with the 
raising of cows and chickens.  The project would claim the best farmland 
because it was bottomland.  By 1954, only 684 farms were located in Lincoln 
County and this count would drop to 383 by 1959.  A decline in the total 
number of acres of farmland would accompany this statistic. 
   
On January 2, 1947, it was announced that the first contract for the project was 
let.16  It was also reported that the project would relocate 450 persons, 56 miles 
of highway, and raise or extend several bridges.  Fifty nine cemeteries 
containing 1760 graves were also moved17.   
 
In reviewing issues of the Lincolnton Journal from 1947 through 1951, there are 
various articles about relocations, land clearing methods, and concerns, and the 
                                                
11 Landrum, p. 167. 
12 Lincolnton Journal, June 14, 1945, p.1. 
13 Lincolnton Journal, September 19, 1945, p.1. 
14 Lincolnton Journal, February 14, 1946, p.1. 
15 Lincolnton Journal, February 14, 1952, p.1. 
16 Lincolnton Journal, January 1, 1947, p.1. 
17 Lincolnton Journal, February 23, 1950 & March 30, 1950,  p.1. 
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nature of these articles was supportive of the project.  Continued optimism was 
also reflected in the belief that Lincoln County would attract “visitors from far 
and wide” to fish and hunt in the managed area surrounding Clarks Hill Lake.  By 
February of 1952, Clarks Hill Lake was being filled at a rapid rate, and the Reid 
house located in Double Branches was reported to be the last house to be 
“abandoned”. 
 
In a special edition of the Lincolnton Journal dated March 20, 1952, this 
optimism continued and the project was promoted as benefiting erosion 
control, reforestation of worn-out farm land, and tourism.  It also claimed that 
“of the families who had to move because of rising waters, most have relocated 
in the county and many new homes have been built”.18  
 
Nearing the completion of the dam, the Corps began leasing land along the 
reservoir to the state for recreational use.  In 1952, Bobby Brown State Park and 
Elijah Clark State Park were leased to the state.  Bobby Brown State Park would 
be located at the site of a once thriving tobacco center, Petersburg19 and 
encompassed 665 acres.  South of Bobby Brown is Elijah Clark State Park which 
contains 447 acres of land. 20  The Clarks Hill project represents the first time 
the Corps of Engineers constructed a dam with a lake and recreational facilities 
simultaneously and  “some 9,000 acres of land may be acquired….for use as 
parks, campsites and other recreational purposes”.   
 
In the same year, the Corps leased two additional areas on the Clarks Hill 
Reservoir for recreational purposes. Mistletoe State Park located south of Elijah 
Clark State Park in Columbia County, encompasses 1,920 acres, and Keg Creek 
located a few miles east of Mistletoe. At a period when schools and other public 
facilities were racially segregated, Keg Creek was designated for use by African 
Americans. 21   
James Francis Fortson owned approximately 1000 acres of the area that would 
become Elijah Clark State Park.  His grandfather, Benjamin, had operated a ferry 
there, at the future site of GDOT Bridge 181-0003-0.  After surrendering 
approximately 700 acres of farm land, James Fortson became Superintendant of 
the new park and would continue in this capacity until 197222.   
                                                
18 Lincolnton Journal, March 20, 1952, p. 2. 
19 Petersburg was situated at the confluence of the Broad and Savannah Rivers. 
20 Townsend, p. 10. 
21 Townsend, p. 11. 
22 Benjamin Fortson, personal communication, 2008. 
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With the land acquired for the construction of the lake and the land acquired for 
the state parks, Lincoln County would ultimately advertise itself as Georgia’s 
“Freshwater” Coast.   A comparison of maps dated 1952 and 1955 on the 
following page helps to illustrate the dramatic change in the relationship 
between land and water in Lincoln County.   
    
1952 Map of Lincoln County                     1955 Map of Lincoln County 
 

 
 
Perhaps it was the optimism of a country home from winning the war, the 
trusting nature of the residents of Lincoln County or the desire to advance the 
county’s lagging economic condition, but no negativity about the project was 
observed in any of the Lincolnton Journal articles dating from the earliest 
mention of the proposed dam to its completion date.   The emphasis was on the 
benefits of the project and the belief that it would facilitate the “industrial 
expansion of Lincoln County”.23  Looking back, residents of the area now say 
that there were ill feelings from displaced property owners as well as other 
residents who mourned the physical changes to their county.  Some speculate 
that property owners were afraid to speak up for fear that they would not 
receive a fair price for their land.  Others state that most property owners did 
not have the funds to obtain legal counsel, but that those who did were able to 
negotiate higher compensation.   
 

 
                                                
23 Lincolnton Journal, December 14, 1944, pg.1. 



9 | P a g e  
 

Changes to the Built Environment   
 

Lincoln County had been economically depressed since the 1930s, and prior to 
the Great Depression, the county had been unable to keep pace with 
surrounding counties.  Many citizens hoped that recreational tourism spawned 
by the creation of the reservoir would provide some economic relief to the 
county.  Occurring more quickly than economic improvement, the Clarks Hill 
project brought changes to land use and the built environment of Lincoln 
County in a number of ways.  Land was submerged and surrounding land 
became parks.  Added to these dramatic changes was the loss of the 
subsistence farms that occupied this land.  The dam project would claim bottom 
land desirable for farming, and much of that land had been employed for 
agricultural purposes.  24 
  
In some cases, the land acquired by the Corps of Engineers was not occupied.  
Some parcels had been purchased by entities such as the Savannah River Electric 
Company in anticipation of the project.  This land was often bulldozed because 
structures on the property signified an “improved” status causing higher 
property taxes. In some cases, abandoned dwellings were cleared to avoid the 
risk of fire in areas converted to timber production, but there were many 
properties on which people still lived and farmed, according to initial research 
that North Carolina State University history student Rob Shapard conducted in 
2007 and 2008 for his master’s thesis. Portions of the properties were wooded, 
mainly in pines, while local farmers still cultivated other portions, in particular 
the bottomlands near the Savannah River and its tributaries25.   
 
In studying maps before the dam construction, it is learned that the 
communities of Clay Hill, Honoria, Bussey, Lisbon and Lockhart were partially or 
completely submerged.  These communities were mentioned in the “History of 
Lincoln County” by Clinton J. Perrymen published in 1933, but no physical 
descriptions of the town layout or architecture were provided.  Lisbon was 
generally described as a vanishing tobacco based community that declined after 
cotton replaced tobacco as the economic staple of the county.  The community 
was created in 1785 with lots numbered and streets named.  The community is 
                                                
24 In June of 1947, the Lincolnton Journal printed a partial list of parcels being acquired but this list does 
not record the extant buildings.  Legal notices ran in the Lincolnton Journal from 1949-1951 announcing 
individual properties facing condemnation. 
25 Rob Shapard, personal communication, 2008. 
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described in the property acquisition records as having only a few residents and 
a post office by 1952.   
  
A few land features still exist along the edge of the lake, if one knows where to 
look.  Ben Fortson, whose family retains about 300 acres in the area of the Elijah 
Clark State Park and the site of GDOT Bridge 181-0003-0 can point to a small 
island south of the bridge that was once the bank of his family’s pond.  When 
the water is very low, he is able to see the trace of the old road leading to the 
bridge before it was raised and extended.  He can also point out the bluff to the 
north of the bridge as the site of the house of a man who worked as a ferryman 
when Fortson’s Ferry was operating and says that the old well is still there.  

These features are identified in the aerial 
photograph shown above.  Mr. Fortson 
also recalled that his father James 
personally made several improvements to 
Elijah Clark State Park when he was the 
Superintendant.  When first developed, 
the park was basic, offering only a road 
that circled into the park with no other 
amenities or organized recreational 
areas.  Campers were told “find a spot in 
the woods” to pitch their tents.  Mr. 
Fortson used his retired farm tractor to 
cut roads into park.  He also added the 
amenities of water and electricity to the 
facility. 
 

As a result of the construction of the dam, houses and barns were demolished 
and land was cleared.  Gardens, orchards, crops and other land features were 
destroyed by the flooding.  Land once used for farming was converted to camp 
sites and ferry landings were replaced by boat launches.  The construction of 
the dam radically altered the landscape in this part of the county.  The property 
acquisition records are the only record of a way of life. 
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Analysis of the Acquisition Records 
 
By far the best snapshot of the land and hardscrabble life in Lincoln County 
before the dam was found within the property acquisition files held by the 
USACE.  These files were not intended to be used for preserving architectural 

history but were used as 
documentation during the 
land acquisition phase of 
the project. The files 
included records from 
McDuffie, Lincoln, 
Columbia, and Wilkes 
Counties in Georgia and 
McCormick County in 
South Carolina.  Although 
the written documentation 
focuses on the valuation of 
the parcels to be acquired, 
they contain details such 

as measurements of the structures, number and size of rooms, the building 
materials used, and, in some cases, the use of a particular building, such as a 
mule barn, cotton house or chicken house.  Condition of the individual 
structures was also discussed in subjective terms.  The ages given were rarely 
definitive.  Generally, they were described as old, very old or recent.  Occupancy 
information was frequently recorded describing the structures as vacant, owner-
occupied or tenanted.  The records indicate that families were given the option 
of moving their homes but only one record indicated that the option was 
accepted.  
 
Since the compensation appears to have included the value of the land and the 
improvements on it, which included buildings, fences, wells, and utilities, the 
modern day researcher can have some sense of the size of the farm, the living 
conditions, and a hint of the landscape of these ordinary farms.  It was noted on 
some of the records that the value of the property was enhanced by its close 
proximity to a spring, or by the quality of the farmland, or the presence of 
marketable lumber.  Included in the acquisition files are 2 inch by 3 inch black 
and white photographs. Generally, only one elevation of each structure was 
photographed but the images in these files also reveal the “spirit of place”.  The 
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photographs originally served 
as supporting documentation 
for the compensation afforded 
the displaced property owner; 
but they now serve as the only 
record of the buildings 
destined to vanish without a 
trace.  
  
Because the pictures of each 
structure are small portraits of 
the buildings, the complete relationship between the house, the fields and the 
outbuildings cannot be seen.  Although the historic landscape is unclear, some 
information concerning the landscape and culture of the area can be derived 
from the photographs.  In some instances the images captured the occupants of 

the farmhouses, domestic 
animals, yard hens, hog lots, 
clotheslines, and vehicles.   
 
This study focuses solely on 
the Lincoln County acquisition 
files.  All efforts were made to 
identify the Lincoln County 
parcels that included structures 
and focus on those properties.  
Each parcel acquired was 
assigned a tract number.  
Photographs of structures and 
an accompanying sheet entitled 

Valuation of Buildings (VOB) was prepared for each tract.  Some of the files 
included correspondence or records of other correspondence with the property 
owner.  These files, roughly in tract number order, had been boxed and stored 
by the USACE since the early 1950s.   
 
When the files were located in 2008, the records were scanned for each tract 
that was found. The VOB sheet contains descriptive information that is useful 
when determining the size of the farm in acres and the floor plans of the 
houses, as well as the uses of some of the outbuildings.  The majority of 476 
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photographs included in the files were taken during1948 and 1949.  Included 
with these photographs and VOBs are copies of an index listing all parcels 
acquired and the name of the property owner and a map that was used to divide 
Lincoln County into tracts.  Some of the records are incomplete and this is noted 
on the photographs or VOB.  When these documents were prepared 60 years 
ago, they were not intended to serve as a survey of historic resources but they 
prove to be a good surrogate, full of information about the architecture and 
culture of the area during this time period.   
 
The following discussion includes general descriptions and observations 
concerning each building type found within the records.  The appraiser listed 
each building by type which may have been based on its function at the time of 
the appraisal.  Some of the descriptions are quite detailed and others are very 
general.  Judging by the number of residents captured by the photographs, 
many of the details concerning use of the buildings could have been passed 
verbally between the occupant and the appraiser.   
 

Dwellings 
 
In many cases the houses described as owner-occupied and those described as 
occupied by tenants are very similar in appearance.  The saddle-bag, single pen 
and double pen house types commonly associated with tenant houses in 
Georgia appear to be used by both by tenants and property owners.  In a few 
cases, a farmstead would include a larger dwelling, usually a Georgian cottage 
or bungalow, with one or two tenant cottages, each with a small group of 
domestic outbuildings organized around them.   All of the farmhouses were 
wood frame with either vertical or horizontal board siding.  Many of these 
houses were unpainted with unglazed windows featuring board shutters and 
rock pier or wood post foundations.  Often sash windows had been installed but 
the board shutter remained to block out light and insects since most windows 
lacked screens.   Exterior chimneys were constructed with field stone or brick.  
Many of the roofs were covered with wooden shingles.  A few separate kitchens 
were listed but it is assumed that, for the most part, cooking was done in one of 
the rooms with a fireplace or stove or was performed outside.  Most houses in 
this study did not have electricity and were heated by a fireplace or stove. Few 
of the houses had plumbing. 
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The written descriptions in the VOB would often list the number of rooms in the 
main block, and then list one or two single rooms.  It is not known if these 
rooms were later additions or an original variation of the standard house plan.  
For example the house listed as G-677 in the Appendix and pictured below 
shows that the main block contains two rooms and a hall but also lists two two-
room additions or extensions.  This extension appears to the right off the main 
block and is also pictured on the right, but extensions of this type are often 
added to or extended from the rear.  In some cases, additions appeared to be 
once separate dwellings that were moved together and connected, as appears to 
be the case in this example. 
 
The term “house type” refers to the overall form of a house as well as the floor 
plan of the interior space.  Photographs of the majority of the 111 dwellings  

 
studied have been classified  according to type as identified in Georgia's Living 
Places: Historic Houses in Their Landscaped Settings, a 1991 publication by the 
Historic Preservation Section (now Division of the Department of Natural 
Resources, and grouped by house type in Appendix A-D so that comparisons 
within each type can be made.  These classifications were based on the 
photographs as well as the information contained in the VOB.  Often the 
appraiser differentiated a room from a hall making the classification somewhat 
easier.  Each of the dwellings is captioned with the tract number so that 
dimensions or other additional information can be obtained by referring to the 
VOB in Appendix E.   Some of the structures were too dilapidated to identify or 
the photographs were of poor quality and therefore were not included in the 
house type sections but all of the records examined can be found in Appendix E.   
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Generally a dwelling 
would be classified 
into a house type by 
the floor plan of its 
main block.  A house 
may have been 
constructed as a 
double pen with two 
rooms side by side and 
would be classified as 
such although wings 
have been added.  In 
studying the 
photographs of Lincoln County, it is apparent that the dwellings were frequently 
constructed as a single or double pen structure with wings and sheds added at a 
different time.  This alteration is apparent because of observable breaks in the 
wall cladding.   It is possible that these were “additions” constructed separately 
or that vacant houses were relocated and reused as additions to nearby 
dwellings.   In addition, several houses appear to have been constructed as a 
combination of linear house types as no breaks in the wall cladding were visible.  
The house associated with M-1213 shown above is a good example of this 
practice.  This dwelling is clearly a single pen on the right with a double pen 
adjoining it on the left side.  The resulting dwelling is three rooms across with a 

one room addition on the rear 
which was not photographed.   
 
The types of dwellings found 
within the photographs generally 
follow those listed in Georgia’s 
Living Places: Historic Houses in 
their Landscaped Settings.  
Double pens and saddlebag 
house types are the most 
dominant types found in the 
Lincoln County records, however.  

Floor plans of these house types are shown above.  Because of the linear plans 
(one room deep) of these structures and the frequency of frame units added to 
the rear and/or side, a single pen easily evolved into a double pen or saddlebag.  
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Due to the frequency of this practice and because of the limitations of the 
available data, the examples of the single pen, double pen, saddlebag, and hall 
and parlor house types are grouped together in Appendix A so that they may be 
compared.  A few examples of the Gabled Wing house type are included in 
Appendix A as well.  Fewer examples of the latter house type were found and a 
t-shaped floor plan predominates. 
 
While the central hallway house type shares the same massing as the double pen 
and saddlebag, the addition of the hall between the two rooms appears to have 
elevated the status of this dwelling type and they are, therefore, not included 
with the other linear types.  
Some of the central hallway 
houses featured cornice 
returns and other architectural 
elaboration, as well as panel 
doors, closets, attic spaces and 
window screens. Although 
some may have been occupied 
by tenants by the late 1940s, it 
is believed that these houses 
were not constructed as tenant 
houses.   Since this variation 
appears less frequently than the other linear plans and appears to have more 
architectural detail, central hallways are grouped together in Appendix B with 
four room Georgian cottages and a single New South cottage.  Also included in 
this group is a single pyramidal cottage.  Although a hallway was not described, 
the pyramidal cottage is included in this group because of its similar massing.   
Floor plans of these house types are shown above. 
 
Two story houses appeared even less frequently and seemed to be in poorer 
condition than other house types by the time of the appraisal.  Whether this 
poor condition was due to some unrelated financial crisis or because the owner 
had the ability to leave once plans for the dam were disclosed, is unknown.  All 
two story variations are grouped together in Appendix C.  None of the two story 
houses appear to be as grand as the large plantation homes found in nearby 
counties and depicted in the HABS collection but a good example of a Plantation 
Plain is found on I-848. 
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A few of the farmhouses were constructed in a manner that conveyed a more 
prosperous operation.  These houses tended to be bungalow house types 
constructed circa 1920, with glazed windows, plumbing, electricity, and a few 
stylistic architectural elements applied to the porch or porches.  Both M-1200 
and M-1222 retain the Georgian cottage characteristic central hall although the 
visual impression of the dwellings is that of a bungalow.   Bungalow variations 
are grouped together in Appendix D.  
   
In addition to house type, other common architectural features can be discerned 
across all house types.  Front porches are observed on over half of the houses 
and rear or second porches are also frequently observed.  Rear or side porches 

also add to the visual impression of 
two houses joined together.  The 
front porch roof is supported by 
plain posts or poles and an open 
balustrade is typical.  Front porch 
steps appear on the farmhouses that 
appear to be more prosperous and 
are a detail noted on the VOB which 
suggests that this feature was viewed 

as optional or an “extra”.  
 
One porch embellishment that was 
observed in several of the 
photographs was the appearance 
of white wash or light paint 
around the entrance doorway or, 
in some cases, covering the entire 
facade in the porch area.  On first 
observation, it was thought that the 
entire structure was once painted and 
only this area retained the finish 
because it was protected from the 
elements; however, the painted/white 
washed entrance was clearly an 
embellishment on the house on the 
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lower right because the paint ends unevenly on the right side of the tiny porch.   
The significance of this embellishment is unknown. 

 
Pictured at left is an example of a 
house resting on wood post piers.  
This photograph also offers a good 
view of typical, unglazed window 
openings with board shutters.  

 
Landscape features around these 
farmhouses vary.  Many of the linear 

types were located in the midst of agricultural fields rather than possessing a 
distinct yard area.  Some were located at the back of fields, near the woods, 
reached by footpath only. Others were abandoned with pines and other 
vegetation reclaiming the depleted soil around the farmhouse.  Many of the 
occupied dwellings are surrounded by dirt yards without the benefit of “house 
trees”.  These landscapes appear hot, desolate, and organized for work only.  
While not embellished by flowers or other planting; farm implements, wash tubs 
and other tools can be 
observed in the yards of 
many of the occupied houses.   
Some swept yards can be 
observed (M-1200 Group 2).  
The yard of the tenant house 
associated with M-1200 
Group 4 faintly reveals an 
oval shaped flower bed edged 
with stones in front of the 
cottage.  The dwellings 
possessing these features 
appear to be more permanent or more anchored to the land than those lacking 
such landscape features.  
 
Because no farm equipment is captured in the any photograph, the fields in the 
photographs appear to have been cultivated using horse and mule, and with a 
lot of hand labor. None of the fields visible had been contoured.  Despite the 
abundance of land, vegetable garden enclosures can be seen in very few of the 
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photographs.  One explanation for this lack could be a short supply of cash for 
the necessary fencing to keep animals out. 
 
Fencing was visible in some of the photographs meant to capture the 
outbuildings.  If a large area 
was fenced, it was also 
mentioned in the VOB for 
the property.  In all cases, 
the fencing photographed 
was wood, but the planks or 
boards may have been 
horizontal or vertical.  In all 
cases, the wood appeared 
roughly finished or may 
have been scrap wood.  Log 
fences were also used, but no stone walls were observed.   
 
The photographs which accompany the VOB are entirely that of the exteriors of 
the building; thus, all information gathered regarding the interiors of these 
structures is based upon written data collected on the VOB form. Some 

comment is made about the 
finishes of the interior walls, 
floors, and ceilings.  The 
information regarding the 
wood flooring often included 
the dimensions of the boards 
used, such as 1 x 4 or 1 x 8.  
The data collected on the VOB 
may also describe the flooring 
as pine or tongue and groove.   
According to the VOB, the 
houses often had no finished 
ceiling.  In some cases, the 
ceiling could be described as 

boarded with 1 x 12, rough boards, tongue and groove or plastered.  The 
interior walls were very rarely plastered or papered but are usually described as 
finished with wood, board or rough board.  These finishes would vary within a 
single structure.  For example, a house may have a ceiling in the main block and 
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no finished ceiling in a wing or shed extension.   A possible explanation for this 
mixture of finishes can be surmised from a statement that was made in the VOB 
for Property P-1558.  Although construction of the house had occurred in 1937, 
“due to War and Clark Hill it has never been finished on the inside”.    

 
Most of the parcels also included a 4 foot by 4 foot privy constructed with scrap 
material.   A water source was also mentioned on each VOB.  Many farms had 
access only to a stream, and wells were considered more valuable when they 
possessed concrete curbing to protect against contamination by surface water. 
A few of the records offered glimpses of other elements present on the farms 
such as lightning rods, milk cans, washtubs and wagons. 
 
In addition to the cultural information found in the photographs, occasional 
notations were made in the VOB that help to illuminate the life of a subsistence 
farm in Lincoln County during this period. For example, the VOB for Property P-
1558 states that “the owner’s wife and two children milk 12 to 15 cows and sell 
Grade B milk.” 
 

Barns 
 

Some of the VOBs include a 
brief narrative that 
describes the area 
surrounding the parcel 
being appraised.  This 
description would detail the 
overall setting of the 
resource but might also 
include racial characteristics 
of the area as well as the 
types of crops grown and 
soil quality.  Very often 
these brief narratives would state that timber, cattle and hogs were raised in the 
area.  Barns observed in these records are very simple types.  Sometimes 
referred to as cribs or even as storage buildings by the appraiser, it is difficult to 
determine the historic use or uses unless the appraiser offers one.  Nearly all of 
the barns encountered are small.  Since cattle and hogs require very little shelter 
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in the south, most of these barns were probably used for the storage of feed 
and farm implements. 
 
Many of the barns captured by the photographs are single crib and identified as 
“crib” by the appraiser in the VOB.  This terminology seems to be a catch-all 
description for a one room outbuilding with either an unknown use or one that 
has changed over time.   Some of these cribs may have also been single pen 
houses replaced by a new farmhouse and repurposed.   
 
Outside dimensions are listed for both large and small barns, but unlike the 
number of rooms recorded for the houses, no number of cribs is provided for 
the larger structures.  However, exterior sheds are noted.  Pictures of these 

structures are more instructive than the 
information provided in the VOBs.  The 
larger barns generally have a loft opening 
and a shed affixed atop each side.  While 
frame construction is noted on the VOBs 
for the houses, the construction of these 
structures is most often described as box 
frame which is thought to indicate the 
lack of girts26. The structures rested on 
posts, rock piers, or wood sills.  A few 

log barns were noted (P-1558, I-839, I-883).   
 

Kitchens 
 

In pioneer period dwellings, 
kitchens did not exist as 
such, but cooking was done 
in the hall portion of a hall 
and parlor house type using 
the fire place.  This space 
later evolved into a separate 
kitchen that moved the 
cooking tasks away from the 
house. By the early 20th 
                                                
26 Many of the barns pictured were deteriorated and had missing wall cladding, allowing a view of the 
framing. 
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century, kitchens, also described as cook houses, were no longer located in 
separate buildings in most parts of Georgia.  In the portion of Lincoln captured 
by the acquisition photographs, this practice was not the case.   The lack of 
available plumbing and electricity may have driven this developmental 
difference.  Separate kitchens were observed in 9 properties.  In others, it 
appears that a once separate kitchen had been moved and attached to the side 
or the rear of the house.   
 
In some cases, the use was identified as such by the appraiser.  The separate 
kitchens observed by the appraiser were wood frame, rectangular in shape, one 
room, and measured 12 feet x 14 feet on average.  Although small by today’s 
standards, this area was quite substantial when compared to the size of the 
main block of most of the houses examined by the appraisers.  Most of the 
kitchens included a chimney or a stove pipe27.  Many lacked screens on the 
windows to keep the flies out.  Property P-1572, shown on the previous page, 
includes an interesting example of an attached kitchen that is raised.  The area 
under the structure may have been used as a root cellar. 28   
 
A more typical example of a 
detached kitchen is shown at 
right.  Note the stove pipe 
piercing the roof.  The kitchen 
appears to be connected to the 
rear porch of the house by a 
short, raised walkway. 
 
In many of the properties, the 
presence of a kitchen was 
difficult to determine by looking at the photographs and reading the VOB. 29  

 
 

                                                
27 Note:  Kitchens were observed in Properties E-451, I-817, I-819, I-878, M-1223, M-1231, M-1236, P-
1500, P-1572.   
28  Note:  The VOB for this property asserts that the structure was 200 years old at the time of the appraisal 
(1950).   
29 Note:  Since the appraisers were able to access the interior and speak with the residents in order to 
identify the functionality of the rooms, when a kitchen was not identified it is assumed that some or all 
cooking activities would have been conducted in one of the interior room or outside. 
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Smokehouses 
 

Smokehouses were common structures in 
both the smaller and larger properties 
captured by the acquisition photographs.  
Used to preserve and store meat, these 
structures were typically wood frame, 
smaller and more square-shaped than the 
kitchen and topped with a front gabled 
roof.  Windows were not present but a 
door is featured on the gabled end.  Some 
log structures were noted.  Due to the 

high number of farms that included 
hog pens and hog sheds, the 
smokehouses would have been 
mainly filled with hog meat.  
Animal skins are shown hanging 
from the exterior walls of the 
smokehouses in some of the 
photographs suggesting that wild 

game may have also been smoked and stored.  
 

Poultry Resources 
 
Nearly all of the occupied farms had a chicken house or chicken coop.  These 
important sources of meat and eggs were housed in structures cobbled together 
with scrap material.  No appreciable difference was observed in the structures 
described as a hen house, a chicken house, or a chicken coop, and none of 
these structures was particularly stylish.  They were small and possessed a 
slanted roof with one or two openings on the front for chickens and egg 
gatherers.  In some of the photographs, a board vertical fence was shown 
surrounding the chicken yard, and a chicken walk was present but these were 
the only adornments.  
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For most of the farms, 
chickens provided eggs and 
meat for the families living on 
the land rather than being 
raised for profit.  However, 
one property was noted to 
have “spent considerable 
money on the farm at one 
time to develop a chicken 
farm”.  It is not known if this 

endeavor proved profitable, but the farm house was freshly painted and 
“remodeled” (T-1909).  This property lists 4 chicken houses and 2 brooder 
houses as well as other agricultural buildings. Although the property had no 
plumbing or electricity, an automobile can be seen in a small, detached garage 
indicating a level of prosperity. 
 

Other Outbuildings & Structures 
 
Less common resources photographed included cotton houses, wash houses, 
mills, stores, a post office, and a school house.  Cotton houses were identified 
on several properties. The 
structures vary in appearance, 
but they were generally small, 
rectangular shapes such as the 
cotton house pictured at left.  
According to Bob Edmonds, a 
local historian, these structures 
would have been used to store 
picked cotton before it was 
ginned.    In the southern part of 
the state, structures used to house cotton were larger, but the size of the 
Lincoln County examples typifies a “two mule operation”.  No cotton gins were 
included in the records, but Mr. Edmonds stated that larger farms in the area 
had gins on the farm and that the structure that housed the gin was small and 
wood framed.30 

                                                
30 Bob Edmonds, personal communication, 2008 
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In some cases, farms in the area produced their own 
electricity before utilities reached the area.  One 
example of a Delco house or “light house” was 
captured by the photographer and is the small 
structure shown at right, but other parcels listed a 
Delco battery system as the source of 32 volt 
electricity.   A millhouse equipped with a Delco 
system is included in Parcel M-1222.  This parcel also 
includes a dwelling and a community store.   
 
A one-room school house was located on Tract 
Number M-1200 is shown at left.  This unpainted 
structure appears to be abandoned by 1950 but retains its window glazing.  

According to the VOB, the 
school house possessed a 
fireplace, but the chimney 
was not visible in the 
photograph of the 
schoolhouse shown at left.  
 
 Also of note was a syrup mill 
and furnace listed on Parcel 
G-696.  Although the 
photographs are poor, the 

VOB lists a 3 roller cane grinder and a brick furnace as elements of the syrup 
mill.    
 
The old town of Lisbon was documented on Parcels P-153231, P-1534, P-1536, 
P-1537 and P-1539.  An image of the post office is included in the records for 
Parcel P-1534.  A brick store is described in the VOB for Parcel P-1536; 
however, photographs of it and the surrounding outbuildings were missing from 
the file.  The VOB does include measurements of the buildings as well as some 
description of the surrounding area that included a ferry.   
 

                                                
31 Although parcels P-1532 and P-1537 had no improvements noted and no photographs, they were 
included in the Appendix because of the description of the surrounding area. 
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Only one example of a storm cellar 
was listed on Parcel P-1502.  It was 
an underground structure built within 
view of the home with a entrance door 
built of planks.   The picture of the 
structure is shown at right. 
 

Age 
 
In most cases, the ages of the 

dwellings in the VOBs were assigned generically: new, old and very old.  Since 
the fading photographs reveal structures of simple design, with unpainted 
exterior walls, and minimal landscaping, the images may in some cases convey 
a false sense of age.  For example, Tract P-1543 shows a saddlebag cottage 
reporting an age of 3 years when surveyed in 1950 but, because of the plan, the 
use of salvaged materials, and the sagging front porch deck, the dwelling 
appears to be much older.  
 
Another factor relating to appearance of age is the practice of utilizing wood 
shingled roofs.  Many of the structures labeled “old” and “very old” have wood 
shingled roofs.  The continued use of wood shingles is likely due to the ample 
supply of lumber in the area and the area’s relative isolation.   Rail 
transportation would have been used to distribute metal building products, and 
this connection was absent. Although the appearance is indeed rustic, it is not 
known if the shingles are hand split, indicating older technology, or machine-
sawn, a more recent practice.  This type of roof can last from 15 to 60 years 
which could date the dwellings from1890 to 193032.  One of the dwellings 
located on Parcel Y-2404 possesses wood shingles and was said to have been 
40 years old when appraised in 1950.  Since these roofs are more fragile, leaks 
and other failures may have added to the “aging” of the structures they were 
protecting.   
 
The Lincoln County photographs were compared to the HABS records included 
in the documentation of the Richard B. Russell Multiple Resource Area prepared 
by the National Park Service in 1983.  The author of that study noted that there 
was little difference in dwellings constructed in the postbellum period (1865-
                                                
32 National Park Service, Preservation Brief 19, accessed online at 
http://www.nps.gov/hps/tps/briefs/brief19.htm 
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1900) to that of the early twentieth century (1900-1929). 33 The plan, size and 
materials did not vary.  Lacking definitive construction dates of the Lincoln 
County dwellings, the structures were most probably constructed in the early 
twentieth century but are felt to reflect architectural history from 1865 to 1940.  
 

Conclusion 
 
Still a county of gospel concerts, screen doors, and gourd lines, Lincoln County 
today has kept its rural character intact while much has changed.  The dusty dirt 
roads have been paved and are lined with neat, freshly painted houses 
surrounded by large yards and vegetable gardens.   Although much of the land 
in Lincoln County is still classified as agricultural, new subdivisions with names 
like Pointe Shores and Hidden Harbor are slowly developing around the lake.  
Wisely, Lincoln County protects its remaining land and quiet life.  When 
commenting on the effect of residential development and the delicate balance 
between increasing tax revenue and the costs of infrastructure to serve the 
growth, Meg Burg, director of the Lincoln County Planning and Zoning 
Department, stated that “growth will be slow, but that's what we want."34 
 
The fading images of the beleaguered farms captured in the photographs reflect 
a time when soil erosion, the boll weevil, and the Great Depression had taken a 
heavy toll on living conditions for all rural Georgians.  Hard-pressed and 
hopeful, the occupants of these houses lived by hard work with small reward.  
With little protection from the outside, the dwellings depicted allowed chickens 
to pass through the windows and wind through the cracks in the walls. 
 
These images of dwellings and outbuildings document structures that were 
important to communities when agriculture was a driving force in rural life.  This 
architectural legacy is quickly disappearing as structures are abandoned and fall 
into disrepair.  These photographs capture the memories of this era and inspire 
us to imagine what life was like in a simpler, less technological time. 
 

 
 
 
 

                                                
33 Worthy, pg. 31-32. 
34 Lincolnton Journal, September 11, 2008,  
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Appendix A:  Selected Photographs of Linear House Types 
 



 



 

 

                

 

               

               

 

   



 

                

 

 

                 

 

 

                   

 

 



 

   

 

 

             

 

    

 



 

             

 

 

 

 

 

           

  



 

 

 

               

 

 

 

            



 

 

 

 

            

 

    

 

  



 

          

          

          

 

 

  

  

  



 

          

 

          

 

          

  



 

         

          

 

           

 

    

  



 

          

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  

 

  



Gabled Wing Variations 

         

         

 

  



Gabled Wing Variations 

       

 

 

               



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B:  Selected Photographs of Central Hall House Types 
 



 



 

    

         

 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 



 

   

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C:  Selected Photographs of Two Story House Types 
 



 



         

            

           

           

  

  

 



 

    

    



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D:  Selected Photographs of Bungalow House Types 

 
 



 



         

       

 

 



 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix E:  All Photographs and Excerpted Valuation of Buildings Forms by 

Tract 
 



 






























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































